IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY A. SPANN,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. SC05-1334

LC No. 97-1672-CFB

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____ /

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Direct Appeal From A Final Order of the Circuit Court Of The Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Martin County, Florida, In Case No. 97-1672-CFB, That Denied Spann's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 Motion For Post Conviction Relief.

Baya Harrison, III
310 North Jefferson Street
Monticello, FL 32344
Tel: 850.997.8469
Fx: 850.997.5852
Fla. Bar No. 099568
Email: bayalaw@aol.com
Court Appointed Counsel for
Appellant, Anthony A. Spann

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

A. Nature of the Case:

This is a direct appeal from a July 1, 2005 final circuit court “Order Denying Second Amended Initial Motion for Post Conviction Relief” (the final order) (R. Vol. XIV, pp. 1973-2007) filed per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851.

B. Jurisdiction:

This Court has jurisdiction to review the lower court order denying Spann’s Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 motion for post conviction relief per the provisions of Article V, Section 3(b), Florida Constitution, Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(1)(A)(I), and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850(g).

C. Course Of The Proceedings:

On December 16, 1997, Spann and his co-defendant, Leonard Philmore, were indicted by a Martin County, Florida grand jury on a charge of the first-degree murder of Mrs. Kazue Perron, allegedly committed on November 14, 1997. (R. Vol. XIV, p. 1973) Their trials were severed. *Id.* The defendants were also indicted for the crimes of conspiracy to commit robbery with a deadly weapon, carjacking with a deadly weapon, kidnapping, robbery with a deadly weapon, and grand theft.

Philmore was tried first and convicted of first-degree murder. *See Philmore v. State*, 820 So. 2d 919 (Fla. 2002), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 895, 123 S. Ct. 179, 154 L. Ed. 2d 162 (2002). Before his sentencing (and after the jury recommended death by a vote of 12-0), Philmore testified for the state against Spann. Philmore was eventually sentenced to death and the conviction and sentence were affirmed on appeal. *See id.*

On May 24, 2000, after a jury trial, Spann was convicted on all counts as charged in the indictment. Following the verdicts, Spann waived both the presentation of mitigating evidence and a penalty phase jury. (R. Vol. XIV, p. 1973) The trial court heard from defense counsel as to what mitigating evidence defense counsel would have presented had there been a penalty phase trial -- and heard from the state as to evidence in support of various aggravating factors. (R. Vol. XIV, p. 1974) On June 2, 2000, the trial court conducted a *Spencer*¹ hearing where both sides made arguments for and against the imposition of the death penalty. On June 23, 2000, the trial court read the order pronouncing Spann's death sentence. In so doing, the trial court found that five aggravating circumstances² had been proven and that five non-

¹ *Spencer v. State*, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

² (1) Spann had previously been convicted of a violent felony, (2) the murder was committed during the course of a kidnapping, (3) the murder was committed

statutory mitigating circumstances had been established.³ (R. Vol. XIV, p. 1974)

The trial court also sentenced Spann to fifteen years for conspiracy to commit robbery with a deadly weapon, life in prison for carjacking; life in prison for kidnapping, life in prison for robbery with a deadly weapon and five years in prison for grand theft.

Spann appealed, raising seven issues not including this Court's required proportionality review. The issues were restated by this Court as follows: (1) whether the trial court erred in admitting expert testimony as to handwriting identification because the expert testimony did not satisfy the test set forth in *Frye v. United States*, 54 U.S. App. D.C. 46, 54 App. D.C. 46, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923); (2) whether the trial court failed to adequately follow the procedures required for granting the defendant's request to waive mitigation as set forth in *Koon v. Dugger*, 619 So. 2d 246 (Fla. 1993); (3) whether the trial court erroneously found that Spann freely and voluntarily made a knowing and

in order to avoid arrest, (4) the murder was committed for pecuniary gain, and (5) the murder was committed in an especially cold, calculated and premeditated manner (the CCP aggravator) without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

³ Spann had been a good son and brother (assigned little weight), Spann did not fire the fatal shots (assigned very little weight), Spann could live in a prison setting without doing harm to others (given some weight), the defendant's wife believed that he was a good husband (given slight weight), and the defendant's father was killed when Spann was very young (assigned moderate weight). (R. Vol XI, p. 1307; R. Vol. XIV, p. 1974; OR., Vol. III, pp. 388-89)

intelligent waiver of the advisory jury in the penalty phase trial; (4) whether the trial court improperly found and considered Spann's conviction for misdemeanor battery as an aggravating factor; (5) whether the trial court improperly doubled three separate aggravating circumstances; (6) whether the trial court failed to consider and weigh all the mitigating evidence in the record; (7) whether the trial court abused its discretion in the weight assigned to the mitigating factors; and (8) although not raised by Spann, whether the sentence of death was proportional. On April 3, 2003, this Court affirmed Spann's judgments of conviction and sentences, including the death sentence. *Spann v. State*, 857 So. 2d 845 (Fla. 2003).

Rehearing was denied on October 16, 2003. The Court's mandate was issued on October 31, 2003. (R. Vol. VI, p. 572)

On August 2, 2004, Spann filed an initial motion for post conviction relief per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 along with a memorandum of law in support of the motion and an appendix. (R. Vol. VI, pp. 569-736; R. Vol. VII, pp. 737-911; R. Vol. XIII, pp. 912-1047; R. Vol. IX, pp. 1048-1210) Spann raised seven issues for which an evidentiary hearing was requested. The issues were: (1) trial counsel was ineffective by failing to object to the racial makeup of the jury panel and the jury pool from which it was selected; (2) trial counsel failed to conduct a thorough investigation in preparation for the penalty phase of the trial; (3) trial counsel failed to advise Spann of all available

mitigating evidence before Spann waived his right to present mitigating evidence and to have a jury render an advisory opinion; (4) trial counsel failed to object to the prosecutor's closing argument which improperly vouched for a certain state witness' (Mrs. Willie Alma Brown's) credibility, (5) trial counsel was ineffective for failing to thoroughly impeach Lenard Philmore based upon his multiple pretrial falsehoods; (6) trial counsel was ineffective by presenting a "boilerplate" motion for judgment of acquittal, thus preventing the issue (the denial of the motion for judgments of acquittal at the conclusion of the state's case-in-chief) from being preserved for appellate review; and (7) trial counsel was ineffective during the guilt phase for failing to properly advise the defendant regarding his waiver of the right to testify. (R. Vol. VI, pp. 574-84) Spann also raised a claim that Florida's death penalty scheme violated *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 583 (2002) and *Blakley v. Washington*, 542 S.Ct. 2531 (2004). In addition, he asserted that Florida's death penalty procedure violated the cruel and unusual punishment provisions of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States. (R. Vol. VI, pp. 609-19). No evidentiary hearing was requested regarding these last two claims.

On October 4, 2004, the state filed a detailed response to the motion for post conviction relief with an appendix. (R. Vol. X, pp. 1211-1294; R. Vol. XI, pp. 1295-1492)

On October 20, 2004, after obtaining permission to do so, Spann filed an amended initial motion for post conviction relief. (R. Vol. XII, pp. 1502-1525) In so doing, Spann raised the additional claim that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to call an alibi witness (his brother, Leo Spann) and for not complying with the notice provisions of the alibi witness rule. (R. Vol. XII, p. 1518-21) On October 25, 2004, the state filed a response to the amended motion. (R. Vol. XII, pp. 1560-1623)

On December 9, 2004, the trial court held a *Huff*⁴ hearing. (R. Vol. XIII, p. 1695)

On December 17, 2004, the trial court rendered an order granting Spann an evidentiary hearing regarding post conviction claims 1-5, 7 and 8. The trial court also authorized Spann to amend Claim III, allowing the state to respond thereto. (R. Vol. II, pp. 1639-40) On January 3, 2005, Spann filed a second amended original motion for post conviction relief. (R. Vol. XII, pp. 1645-68). On March 14, 2005, Spann filed a motion to amend the second amended motion for post conviction relief. (R. Vol. XII, pp. 1679-82) The essence of this motion was that aggravating and mitigating factors are elements of first-degree murder and the failure to include these facts in the indictment violated Spann's constitutional

⁴ *Huff v. State*, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1992).

rights. (R. Vol. XIII, p. 1697) On March 22, 2005, the state filed a response to Spann's motion to amend the second amended original motion for post conviction relief. (R. Vol. XIII, pp. 1695-1769) On March 28, 2005, the trial court rendered an order per a stipulation of the parties allowing Spann to amend his January 3, 2005 second original amended motion for post conviction relief to include the additional issue that was filed by Spann on or about March 9, 2005. Thus, the claims ultimately considered by the trial court during the post conviction proceedings were:

1. Whether Spann was denied constitutionally effective assistance of trial counsel for allegedly; (Claim 1) failing to challenge the racial composition of the jury panel and venire pool; (Claim 2) failing to adequately investigate mitigating evidence; (Claim 3) failing to adequately advise the defendant of all mitigating evidence prior to his waiver of the right to present mitigation and failing to move to withdraw the defendant's waiver of the penalty phase jury; (Claim 4) failing to object to the bolstering of the Willie Alma Brown testimony; (Claim 5) failing to adequately cross-examine the co-defendant (Philmore) on multiple conflicting pretrial statements; (Claim 6) making an insufficient, boilerplate motion for judgment of acquittal at the conclusion of the guilt/innocence phase of the trial; (Claim 7) failing to adequately advise the defendant prior to him waiving

his right to testify; and (Claim 8) failing to file a notice of alibi and present all available alibi witness testimony.

2. (Ground 9) Whether Florida's jury advisory system violates the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Sections 9 and 16, Florida Constitution, in light of *Ring v. Arizona* and *Blakely v. Washington*.

3. (Ground 10) Whether Florida's death penalty statute constitutes cruel and unusual punishment as prohibited by the federal and Florida Constitutions.

4. (Ground 11) Whether the aggravating and mitigating factors were required to be set forth in the indictment.

See the trial court's final order of July 1, 2005, denying Spann post conviction relief, R. Vol. XIV, pp. 1976-2007.

D. Disposition In The Lower Tribunal:

On July 1, 2005, the trial court rendered a final order that denied Spann's second amended original motion for post conviction relief filed per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851. (R. Vol. XIV, pp. 1973-2007) The trial court's findings and ruling as to each claim are discussed in the argument section of this brief. Spann filed a timely notice of appeal to this Court. (R. Vol. XIV, p. 2043)

E. Statement Of The Facts:

The Basic Facts Of The Case As Found By Supreme Court Of Florida

The basic facts of the case as found by the Supreme Court of Florida are set forth in the opinion of this Court in *Spann v. State*, 857 So. 2d 845 (Fla. 2003):

On November 13, 1997, Anthony Spann (Spann) drove his blue Subaru as the getaway car for the robbery of a pawn shop. Leonard Philmore (Philmore) and Sophia Hutchins (Hutchins) robbed the pawn shop. They took handguns and jewelry, but little or no money. That evening, Spann, Philmore, and two women, Keyontra Cooper (Cooper) and Toya Stevenson (Stevenson), spent the night in a local motel.

The next morning, on November 14, 1997, while the four were still at the motel, Cooper's friend paged her to tell her that police were looking for Philmore. Spann and Philmore decided to leave town and planned to rob a bank for the money to do so. They planned to use the Subaru as the getaway car from the bank robbery. Since they assumed police would be looking for the Subaru, they planned to carjack a different vehicle to use as transportation to leave town. They specifically targeted a woman for the carjacking to make it easier, and then planned to kill her so that she could not identify them later.

At about noon, Spann and Philmore took Cooper and Stevenson home to get ready to leave town. Spann and Philmore then went to a shopping mall to search for a victim. When their attempts failed, they went to what Spann described as “a nice neighborhood” where they spotted a gold Lexus with a woman driver. They followed her to a residence. When she pulled into the driveway, Philmore approached her, asked to use her cell phone, then forced her back into the car at gunpoint.

Philmore rode in the Lexus with the victim, Kazue Perron, and Spann followed in the Subaru. The victim was nervous and crying. She offered Philmore her jewelry, which he took and then later threw away because he was afraid it would get him in trouble. They drove down an isolated road, and when they stopped, Spann motioned to Philmore, a motion which Philmore understood to mean that he should kill the woman. Philmore told the victim to go to the edge of a canal, but according to him, the woman instead came toward him. Philmore testified that he

shot her in the forehead using a gun he had stolen the day before from the pawn shop. Philmore picked up the victim's body and threw it into the canal, and got blood on his shirt.

Philmore and Spann left together in the Subaru to rob a bank. In the car, Philmore took off his bloody t-shirt, which was later recovered by police, and put on Spann's t-shirt. Philmore went into the bank, grabbed approximately one thousand dollars cash from the hand of a customer at the counter, and got back into the passenger's side of the blue Subaru. As planned, Spann and Philmore abandoned the Subaru and picked up the Lexus. They then went to pick up Cooper and Stevenson.

Stevenson testified that between 2:30 and 3:00 that afternoon, Spann and Philmore picked her up in the Lexus. They picked up Cooper, then headed back to Sophia Hutchins' house. Stevenson and Cooper questioned Philmore and Spann about the car and they were told not to worry about it.

Before they reached Hutchins' house, at around 3:15 p.m., Officer Willie Smith, who was working undercover for the West Palm Beach Police Department, saw Spann driving the gold Lexus. Smith knew Spann had an outstanding warrant so he signaled surveillance officers, who began to pursue him. Spann tried to out drive the police and a chase began at speeds of up to 130 miles per hour through a residential neighborhood. They drove onto the interstate, and the police lost Spann. Eventually the Lexus blew a tire and went off the road at the county line. A motorcyclist saw the Lexus drive off the road and four people get out and run into an orange grove. The motorcyclist called 911 on his cell phone.

The grove owner was working with a hired hand that day trapping hogs in the grove. He saw people come into the grove from the road and later identified one of the men as Spann. The grove owner heard a helicopter overhead and saw that the men had guns. He told them to hide in the creek brush, then he called 911. The grove owner met troopers by the road and helped search for Spann and the others. Six hours after the manhunt began, Spann, Philmore, Cooper and Stevenson were found in the grove. Days later, the grove owner found a gun and beeper in the water near the creek brush where the four were hiding. Police recovered a second gun in the same water.

Spann v. State, supra, 857 So. 2d at 849-50.⁵

Evidence Presented During Rule 3.851 Post Conviction Proceedings

Robert Udell, Esq., was Spann's lead trial counsel. (R. Vol. II, p. 77) Udell had no recollection of filing any motions or doing any research addressing the ethnic makeup of Martin County, the jury pool, or the jury panel itself, but he thought he looked at the statistics in that regard and found them within accepted guidelines. (R. Vol. II, pp. 78-9, 81) Udell acknowledged, however, that had he looked at the statistics, he would have billed his client, and this fee would have appeared in his fee affidavit (Defense Ex. 5), but there was no such fee in the affidavit. (R. Vol. II, p. 80) The trial court stated that she would judicial notice as to whether a motion attacking the venire was filed by defense counsel.⁶

Udell assigned his co-counsel, Rory Little Esq., to handle the penalty phase of the trial, but he monitored and consulted with Little, since he (Udell) was much more experienced in capital litigation. (R. Vol. II, pp. 84, 92)

⁵ Spann denied in his post conviction filings that these findings were correct and maintains that same position here as explained below.

⁶ The court's words were: "I will take judicial notice as to whether or not there was any motion filed addressing the racial composition of the jury panel." (R. Vol. II, pp. 82-3)

Udell retained Dr. Fred Petrilla, a mental health expert, to assist with mental health mitigation issues, such as the defendant's competency to stand trial and his mental health status at the time he committed the crime, since the state was seeking the death penalty. (R. Vol. II, pp. 85-6) However, Spann refused to confer with Petrilla on the doctor's second visit (which was right after Spann had been convicted by the jury). (R. Vol. II, p. 86) Spann's defense was that he did not commit the crime, and under those circumstances Udell did not see much sense in amassing mental health mitigation relating to the defendant's mental health status at the time of the crime. (R. Vol. II, pp. 86-7, 109) Thus, Udell told Dr. Petrilla to respect Spann's wishes and desist with the evaluations. (R. Vol. II, pp. 87-8) Udell did not recall if he personally subpoenaed Spann's prison or DCF records. (R. Vol. II, pp. 93-4) He vaguely remembered looking at Spann's school records, in which he found no relevant information. (R. Vol. II, p. 95) He had Spann's criminal history records, though these did not appear in the list of documents that Udell provided Ms. Simpson in his trial counsel box. (R. Vol. II, pp. 96, 101)

Spann informed Udell early in his representation that he did not want to present mitigation if he were convicted of first-degree murder, because he was HIV-positive. (R. Vol. II, pp. 103-05) In this regard, Dr. Petrilla could nor or would not indicate the existence of any mental health mitigation statutory factors

based upon his meeting with the defendant and limited review of Spann's records.
(R. Vol. II, p. 110)

Udell talked to Spann's mother several times. (R. Vol. II, pp.112-13) He also spoke to his aunt, Mrs. Willie A. Brown, and one or more of Spann's brothers. (R. Vol. II, p. 113-14)

With regard to Spann's alibi defense, Udell acknowledged that the state used Mrs. Brown's videotaped deposition in an attempt to refute Spann's alibi. (R. Vol. II, pp. 133-34) Udell went out to Mrs. Brown's residence and took some pictures. (R. Vol. II, pp. 117) According to Udell, Mrs. Brown was "getting up there in age" and not well educated. (R. Vol. II, p. 114) She had some memory problems, but he did not do any follow up to determine her medical condition. (R. Vol. II, pp 115-16)

Udell was present with Leo Spann when his deposition was taken toward the end of the trial. (R. Vol. II, p. 117-18) Udell believed that he and Leo discussed what Leo was going to be asked during his deposition, but the deposition contained a statement by Leo (Defense Ex. 7) to the effect that Udell did not know what he was going to testify to. (R. Vol. II, pp. 119-22) Udell explained that Leo was just trying to make the point that Udell had not told him what to say. (R. Vol. II, p. 122) He could not recall whether Leo had personal knowledge about the alibi

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