IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC05-1334

ANTHONY A. SPANN

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

.....
ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL
CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA,
(CRIMINAL DIVISION)
.....

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM
Attorney General
Tallahassee, FL

Leslie T. Campbell
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No.: 0066631
1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
Telephone (561) 837-5000
Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

⁴ Initially, Leo was confused about the date in question. When discussing November 13th, he was referring to November 14th. (Defense exhibit 7 at 15-16).

claiming Brown, Spann's aunt, did not know Spann as Anthony Spann only as Tony, and Leo may not have heard the question. (Defense exhibit 7 at 24-26). With regard to the time Leo heard/saw Spann enter the Adams Street property on November 14th, he was "exactly sure" of the time, but then stated it could be an hour earlier or later (Defense exhibit 7 at 27).

Given Leo's deposition, Udell felt his testimony would not be helpful. This was especially true with respect to the testimony that Leo did not know where Spann was until 2:00 or 3:00 p.m. Udell realized the State's time-line was very tight, and he tried to use it to Spann's advantage, yet, when he drove the route, it seemed to match the State's case. (PCR.2 156-57).

Leo testified at the evidentiary hearing that **he did not disclose to Udell** Brown's memory problems, although he had moved into her home for that reason. (PCR.3 275; PCR.4 385). Initially, Leo said Udell did not know what he would say at the deposition, but then admitted they discussed the alibi and in response to Udell's questioning, Leo disclosed he first saw Spann between 2:00 and 3:00 p.m. on November 14th. Leo later claimed the time was earlier, "between 1:00 and 2:00." As an explanation for the 2:00 to 3:00 p.m. time given in the deposition, Leo asserted he did not understand the question (PCR.3 279-81, 302). Yet, Leo confirmed that on several occasions in his deposition, he reiterated it was between 2:00

and 3:00 p.m. that he first saw Spann. It was not until the end of Udell's cross-examination, and at Udell's prompting, that Leo finally said the time-frame could possibly be 1:00 to 2:00 p.m. (PCR.3 298-301).

Not until the evidentiary hearing did Leo assert people were able to enter Brown's yard without being seen, but only heard due to the gate squeaking. It was that noise, Leo claimed allowed him to note Spann's entry onto the property, while Brown did not hear Spann. (PCR.3 282-83). Also, Leo noticed lights on in the shed near 9:00 or 10:00 a.m.⁵ on November 14th, and he saw Spann between 1:00 and 2:00 p.m. Fifteen minutes later, Leo heard the gate squeak again and noticed a car, a gold Lexus or Acura parked out front (PCR.3 285-91, 303). At no time on November 14th did Leo see Philmore. Leo agreed he denied in his deposition seeing Philmore at 3:00 or 4:00 p.m. pick up Spann in a Lexus. By way of explanation for the change in testimony, Leo asserted the tortured explanation that he had seen the Lexus at 2:00 p.m., but because the prosecutor asked him if the car were parked in front, and it was parked away from the house, Leo denied seeing it. (PCR.3 299-303).

⁵ It matters not that Leo saw lights on in the shed that morning, for as Spann admitted, and as Kiki, Toya, and Philmore confirmed, they had spent the night together in a hotel and did not part company until 12:00 to 12:30 p.m. Moreover, Spann claimed in his police statement that he did not get to Adams Street until 12:00 to 12:30 p.m. Lights on in the morning does not further Spann's alibi defense.

Udell also had a phone conversation and conference with Brown before her deposition. Although unsure if the family noted any memory problems with Brown, Udell was able to converse with her and receive appropriate response, but he was aware she was elderly and could forget things. Udell did not do any follow-up medical investigation into Brown's competency. (PCR.2 113-16). Prior to Brown's deposition, she stated she had seen Spann in her back yard, but during the deposition, Brown changed her account to not having seen him, but he may have been there. In Udell's estimation, he would not be able to counter Brown's under oath account, therefore, he successfully minimized her account to become that Spann may have been at Brown's anyway. (PCR.2 134-35, 159-60). Udell did not feel there was any need to do follow-up medical investigation of Brown, because he believed the jury would merely draw the conclusion Brown did not have a recollection. Her testimony did not close out Spann's alibi defense. Udell feared challenging Brown's competency on the possibility she would become more confused, thus allowing the jury to conclude they could not rely on Brown for anything. (PCR.2 136-38, 159-65, 217).

Dr. Scanameo testified he first evaluated Brown on August 8, 2000 and again on September 20, 2000.⁶ The doctor estimated

⁶ Spann was convicted in May, 2000, and sentenced June 23, 2000.

Brown had been suffering from dementia for approximately six years. He admitted some patients stabilize for a time, but without having seen Brown, he could not comment, yet, was confident Brown had moderate to advanced dementia in April, 2000. (PCR.2 221-26).

In her evidentiary hearing testimony, Brown stated that in November, 1997, she was living on Adams Street and Spann would visit her and stay in the back shed. It was Brown's estimation that her memory was better in 2000. (PCR.2 233-37).

Based upon the foregoing, it is clear Udell investigated the alibi defense, and made strategic decisions based upon that investigation. It must be remembered counsel's performance is viewed from the perspective of what was known at the time the decision was made; hindsight is not permitted. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689 (reasoning high level of deference must be paid to counsel's performance; distortion of hindsight must be limited as the standard is to evaluate performance based on the facts known at time of trial); Cherry, 659 So. 2d at 1073 (finding standard is not how current counsel would have proceeded in hindsight). Udell spoke with Brown and Leo about Spann's whereabouts on November 14th. He also took photographs of the home where Spann claimed he had been since noon on the day of the murder. Leo's clear deposition testimony was that he did not see his brother until 2:00 to 3:00 p.m. This time-frame

did not further the alibi defense as it was not complete. Clearly, Spann did not have an alibi, based on Leo's deposition testimony, for the 1:00 to 2:00 p.m. time-frame when Perron was abducted and taken to Indiantown, and only a weak, incomplete alibi for the 2:00 to 3:00 p.m. time. This was further undercut by the testimony of Kiki and Toya as well as Philmore because they agreed all were together in West Palm Beach at 2:30 p.m. Further, at no time did Leo see Philmore that day. Again, this would not further the defense. See Reed v. State, 875 So.2d 415, 429-30 (Fla. 2004) (noting it is not ineffective assistance to decline to present witness who would not confirm alibi); Wike v. State, 813 So.2d 12, 18-19 (Fla. 2002) (same); Rivera v. State, 717 So.2d 477, 484 (Fla. 1998) (rejecting claim of ineffective assistance as witness could not support alibi). As such, Udell did not see a purpose of presenting such equivocal testimony from the defendant's brother. Cf. Breedlove v. State, 692 So.2d 874, 877-78 (Fla. 1997) (holding counsel was not ineffective for failing to present testimony of friends and family members that would have been subject to cross-examination, and therefore, would have countered any value defendant might have gained from favorable evidence). This is a reasonable, professional decision made after investigation.

Also, it was reasonable for Udell to forego calling Leo to contradict his deposition testimony. It was logical for Udell

to conclude that calling Leo would weaken the defense case based on the jury's anticipated perception of Leo as one brother protecting another by changing his clear deposition testimony noting a 2:00 to 3:00 p.m. time frame to one that would fit the defense case. Indeed, there was testimony from Yolanda Spann that Leo had protected Spann while they were growing up. (PCR.4 377). Hence, not putting on testimony that was an incomplete alibi, coupled with the fact Leo's motivation for changing his deposition testimony could further undermine his credibility, Udell was not deficient. Regardless of the decision not to present Leo, Udell had Spann's police statement as alibi evidence and the police report that a witness has seen two black males in a Lexus followed by a Subaru with two black females. As a result, under a Strickland analysis, there is no prejudice arising from the decision to not call Leo.

Likewise, not presenting photographs of the home to support the alibi defense was again a reasonable decision. First, Leo was not able to corroborate that Spann was at the home during the critical time, and Brown, likewise, was equivocal about having seen Spann. To decline to present photographs which would not add to the alibi is not unreasonable or deficient.

Not investigating the medical history of Brown was not ineffective as Udell neutralized her testimony. While she had informed the police, and later gave a deposition, that Spann was

not living in her back shed at the time, Udell countered this testimony by having her admit she did not know whether or not Spann had been to Adams Street on November 14th, and that he could have been there without her knowledge. The alibi defense was intact through Spann's own statement. Moreover, Udell successfully utilized hearsay testimony that Detective Carl interviewed witness, Majerczak, because she had reported seeing a gold Lexus with two black males in the vicinity and near the time of the abduction followed by a blue/gray Subaru with two black females (ROA.28 2875-80). This was evidence the defense could rely upon to support Spann's alibi that he was at his aunt's home and a female, Sophia, had taken his Subaru. Cf. Jennings v. State, 583 So.2d 316, 321 (Fla. 1991) (finding "It is not negligent to fail to call everyone who may have information about an event. Once counsel puts on evidence sufficient, if believed by the jury, to establish his point, he need not call every witness whose testimony might bolster his position.").

Nonetheless, given the strength of Philmore's testimony, the time-frame offered by Kiki and Toya,⁷ as well as Spann's own

⁷ Kiki testified Spann drove a blue manual transmission Subaru and Philmore did not know how to drive that type of vehicle. (ROA.22 2198-99). On the night before the murder, November 13, 1997, Spann and Philmore were in possession of guns (ROA.22 2199-2200). Between 12:00 and 12:30 p.m. on November 14, 1997, the day of the crimes, Philmore and Spann left Kiki at her home.

statement, there is no reasonable probability an acquittal would have been obtained had Leo testified. Philmore placed Spann at each step of this criminal episode, from planning to execution. Moreover, Kiki and Toya agreed that Spann and Philmore left them by 12:30 p.m. and returned for them by 2:28 p.m. During this time, near 1:00 p.m., Ms. Solis saw two black males at the abduction scene, near 2:00 p.m. Leo Gomez was almost struck by two black males driving away from the bank, and Lysle Linsley saw Spann's Subaru followed by a Lexus. Leo confirmed he told the State that he did not see Spann until 2:00 to 3:00 p.m. on November 14th, and that he did not see Philmore at all that day. Spann's statement claimed he did not see Philmore until 12:00 - 1:00 p.m. on November 14th, which was refuted by Kiki and Toya, when Philmore arrived at the Adams Street residence driving a white Lexus. Ms. Solis and the known facts refute this. Perron was not abducted until 1:00 p.m., therefore, Philmore would not have had time to carjack Perron, dispose of her body in Martin

(ROA.22 2203; ROA.24 2381). At 2:28 p.m. on November 14th, Kiki returned Philmore's page and learned he was at Toya's home and would be at her home in a few minutes. Philmore and Kiki, with Spann driving a gold Lexus, arrived at Kiki's home near 2:35 p.m. When she asked about the car, Spann told her not to worry, "we got it" and admitted the car was stolen (ROA.24 2382-85). The group proceeded to a Burger King for food and for Kiki to get her check. Afterward, they stopped for gasoline before proceeding to "Sophia's" home. When they approached Sophia's home, they saw a van with police parked in front, so they sped away and a high speed chase ensued north on Interstate 95. The chase ended when the Lexus blew a tire and Spann told the group to run. Eventually, all were arrested. (ROA.24 2385-93).

County, and be at Adams Street by 1:00 p.m. The testimony from Leo does not undermine this overwhelming evidence of Spann's guilt nor does Brown's dementia establish prejudice under these circumstances.

Like the decision regarding the alibi defense, Udell's choice not to object to the State's alleged bolstering of Brown's testimony in guilt phase closing was not ineffective assistance. The court's ruling on the matter is supported by the following evidence and analysis.

It is Spann's position that the failure to object is deficient performance, and that he was prejudiced as improper argument was placed before the jury. Because Udell had a reasonable strategic basis for not presenting Leo Spann to support the alibi as noted above, and any negative aspects of Brown's testimony had been neutralized by counsel, it was neither deficient nor prejudicial representation for Udell not to have objected to the prosecutor's argument. Moreover, when the prosecutor's comments are read in context, they do not improperly bolster a State witness. Instead, the argument suggested common sense should be used. Given the evidence adduced at trial, no prejudice can be shown. Relief was denied properly, and this Court should affirm.

In his closing argument, the prosecutor reminded the jury that Brown could not substantiate where Spann was on the day of

the murder, and she could not say he was living with her or in the shed. The prosecutor then argued:

I had a Grandma Bakkedahl. She sat on her front porch in Rochester, Minnesota for the last 20 years of her life. And I'm telling you what, there ain't a single thing that went on in that neighborhood that she didn't know about. And they want you to believe that he's coming and going through this gate into the back of this lady's house and she never knew it. Maybe in a world where there's no common sense that works.

(ROA.29 3022). Udell did not find the comment objectionable. (PCR.2 145). Moreover, Udell agreed that the prosecutor could make arguments, but it did not change Brown's testimony. While she initially claimed Spann was not living there, she admitted she did not know whether or not Spann was living in the shed. (PCR.2 160-65; ROA.28 2889-90, 2894-95, 2900). The prosecutor's comments did not require an objection, and even if one could have been asserted, the failure to do so was not prejudicial under Strickland.

"Wide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury. [c.o.] Logical inferences may be drawn, and counsel is allowed to advance all legitimate arguments." Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982). In arguing to a jury "prosecutors are allowed to advance to the jury all legitimate arguments within the limits of their forensic talents in order to effectuate their enforcement of the criminal laws." Spencer v. State, 133 So. 2d 729, 731 (Fla. 1961). "Any error in prosecutorial

comments is harmless, however, if there is no reasonable possibility that those comments affected the verdict." King v. State, 623 So.2d 486, 488 (Fla. 1993); Watts v. State, 593 So. 2d 198 (Fla. 1992). Reversal is not required for comments which do not vitiate the entire trial or "inflame the minds and passions of the jurors so that their verdict reflects an emotional response to the crime or the defendant." Bertolotti v. State, 476 So.2d 130, 134 (Fla. 1985). The harmless error analysis applies to prosecutorial misconduct claims. State v. Murray, 443 So.2d 955, 956 (Fla. 1984).

... prosecutorial error alone does not warrant automatic reversal of a conviction unless the errors involved are so basic to a fair trial that they can never be treated as harmless. The correct standard of appellate review is whether "the error committed was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial." [c.o.] The appropriate test for whether the error is prejudicial is the "harmless error" rule set forth in Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 ... and its progeny.... Reversal of the conviction is a separate matter; it is the duty of appellate courts to consider the record as a whole and to ignore harmless error, including most constitutional violations.

Murray, 443 So.2d at 956. In determining whether an error is harmless, the court must determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the comment did not contribute to the guilty verdict. Id. "In order for the prosecutor's comments to merit a new trial, the comments must either deprive the defendant of a fair and impartial trial, materially contribute to the conviction, be so harmful or fundamentally tainted as to require a new trial, or

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